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FMC WOM NG CORPORATI ON, : CONTEST PROCEEDI NGS
Cont est ant
Docket No. WEST 92-174-RM
Order No. 3634714; 11/27/91

Docket No. WEST 92-175-RM
Order No. 3634718; 11/27/91
SECRETARY OF LABOR, :
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH : Docket No. WEST 92-176-RM

ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , : Order No. 3634720; 11/27/91
Respondent

FMC Trona M ne

M ne |.D. 48-00152

SECRETARY OF LABOR, CI VI L PENALTY PROCEEDI NG

M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH :
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , : Docket No. VEST 92-464-M
Petitioner : A.C. No. 48-00152-05608
V. Docket No. VEST 92-542-M

A.C. No. 48-00152-05612
FMC WOM NG CORPORATI ON, :
Respondent : FMC Trona M ne

DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Matthew F. McNulty, Esq., VAN COIT, BAGLEY,
CORNWALL & McCARTHY, Salt Lake City, Utah,
for Contestant/ Respondent;

Kristi Floyd, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor,
U.S. Departnent of Labor, Denver, Col orado,
for Petitioner/Respondent.

Bef ore: Judge Morris
These contest and civil penalty proceedi ngs arose under the

Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U . S.C. 0O 801 et
seq. (the "Act"). In the civil penalty proceedings, the Secre-
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tary seeks to inpose civil penalties against FMC Wyom ng Cor po-
ration ("FMC").

After notice to the parties, a hearing on the nerits took
place in Salt Lake City, Utah

The parties filed post-trial briefs.
STI PULATI ON

At the comencenent of the hearing, the parties stipul ated
as follows:

1. FMC Wom ng Corporation ("FMC') is engaged in mning
and selling of sodium conpounds in the United States, and its
m ning operations affect interstate conmerce

2. FMC i s the owner and operator of FMC Trona M ne, MSHA
|.D. No. 48-00152.

3. FMC is subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal M ne
Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. 0O 801, et seq. (the
"Act").

4, The Adm nistrative Law Judge has jurisdiction in this
mat ter.
5. The subject citations/orders were properly served by

duly authorized representatives of the Secretary upon an agent of
FMC on the dates and places stated therein, and may be adm tted
into evidence for the purpose of establishing their issuance, and
not for the truthful ness or rel evancy of any statenments asserted
t herei n.

6. The exhibits to be offered by FMC and the Secretary are
stipulated to be authentic but no stipulation is nade as to their
rel evance or the truth of the matters asserted therein

7. The proposed penalty will not affect FMC s ability to
conti nue in business.

8. FMC is a large nmine operator with 3,132,680 hours
wor ked in 1991.

9. The certified copy of the MSHA Assessed Viol ations
Hi story accurately reflects the history of this mne for the two
years prior to Decenber 9, 1991
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SETTLEMENTS

At the commencenent of the hearing, the parties further
agreed to settle certain citations:

1. As to Citation No. 3634735 FMC seek to withdraw its
contest and pay the proposed penalty of $100. (Tr. 7).

2. As to Citation No. 3634706 the parties seek to reduce
the penalty from $1000 to $780. They further noted FMC abated
the violative condition, and it was agreed the acconpanyi ng non-
penalty 104(b) Order should be affirmed. (Tr. 7).

3. As to Citation No. 3904302 FMC noved to withdraw its
notice of contest and pay the proposed penalty of $1800.
(Tr. 9).

4, As to Citation No. 3904303 the parties sought to anend
the Citation and reduce the penalty for $206 to $50. (Tr. 9).

I have reviewed the proposed settlenments as stated on the
record and | find they are reasonable and in the public interest.
They shoul d be approved.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND | SSUES

No di spute exists as to the three citations issued under
Section 104(a) of the Act. The citations, described hereafter
are supported by the testinony of MSHA Inspector Gerry Ferrin, an
electrical specialist. FMC s witness Carl Watson offered no con-
trary evidence.

The di spute centers on whether the Inspector abused his dis-
cretion in failing to extend the tinme of abatenent when he was
requested to do so. Further, the proposed penalties are an issue
in the case

Citation No. 3634712 alleges FMC violated 30 C.F.R
0 57.20003. (Footnote 1) It reads

1 0 57.20003 Housekeepi ng.
At all mining operations--

(a) Workpl aces, passageways, storeroons, and
service roonms shall be kept clean and orderly;

(b) The floor of every workplace shall be
mai ntained in a clean and, so far as possible, dry
condi tion.



~2319
A quantity of trona had spilled on the stair- way by
E11l el evator, sesqui shipping; on the stairway access
and on the access to the val ves beside the stairway.
The passageway and stairway was (sic) was not
mai ntained in a clean and orderly condition. (Ex. G
2).

VWhen FMC failed to abate the violative conditions, the In-spector issued
Order No. 3634717 under Section 104(b) of the Act. (Ex. G2).

Citation No. 3634713 alleges FMC violated 30 C F.R 0O 57.12032.
(Footnote 2) It reads:

The thernpstat in the restroomin Sesqui shipping was
not provided with a cover over the 110 VAC ternmi nals.
The thernostat was about 4.5 feet above floor |evel.
The ter- minals were somewhat recessed so that contact
was unlikely. (Ex. G3).

VWhen FMC failed to abate the violative conditions, the |Inspector issued
Order No. 3634718 under Section 104(b) of the Act. (Ex. G3).

Where wet processes are used, drainage shall be nmain-
tained, and false floors, platforns, nmats, or other
dry standi ng places shall be provided where
practicabl e; and

(c) Every floor working place, and passageway shal
be kept free fromprotruding nails, splinters, holes,
or | oose boards, as practicable.

2 0 57.12032 Inspection and cover pl ates.
I nspection and cover plates on electrical equiprment

and junction boxes shall be kept in place at all tines
except during testing or repairs.
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Citation No. 3634714 alleges FMC violated 30 C. F. R
0 57.20003. (Footnote 3) It reads

In the old sesqui baggi ng/ shop platform housekeeping
had not been perfornmed through- out the entire area.
Bags of soda ash had been dropped in wal kways,
cardboard, paper, rags, and netal materials were
strewn about. (Ex. G 4).

VWhen FMC failed to abate the violative conditions, the |Inspector issued
Order No. 3634720 under Section 104(b) of the Act. (Ex. G4).

DI SCUSSI ON AND FURTHER FI NDI NGS

On Novenber 26, 1991, MSHA |Inspector Gerry Ferrin issued Ci- tation Nos.
3634712, 3634713, and 3634714. These three Citations were issued under
Section 104(a) of the Act. (Gov. Exs. G 2,

G 3, and G4). On Novenmber 27, 1991, approximtely 24 hours | ater |nspector
Ferrin issued an acconpanying 104(b) order for each Citation

Evi dence as to 104(a) Citations
Cl TATI ON NO. 3634712

The area involved in this Citation was identified as a pas-sage or
travelway. (Tr. 16, 58). |Inspector Ferrin considered the area to be in use
because he observed packed-down trona as well as footprints in the trona.

(Tr. 17). M. Watson con- firnmed the passageway was in use and access had not
been restricted. (Tr. 54, 60, 74).

I nspector Ferrin identified slip, trip, or fall as the hazard. He
bel i eved supervisory personnel traveling through the area should have
recogni zed the hazard and taken care of it. (Tr. 16, 18, 59).

The uncontroverted facts establish a violation of 57.20003 and Citation
No. 3634712 should be affirned.

3 Cited, supra fn 1
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Citation No. 3634713

This Citation was issued on November 26, 1991, at approx- imately 10:23
p.m Inspector Ferrin indicated the conditions cited presented an electrica
shock hazard. (Tr. 24). He fur- ther testified as to the absence of any
testing or repairs on the thernostat. (Tr. 24). Both nmanagenent and
enpl oyees use the restroom M. Ferrin felt soneone should have recogni zed
the hazard and corrected it. (Tr. 26).

On the uncontroverted evidence Citation No. 3634713 shoul d be affirned.
Citation No. 3634714

This Citation was issued on Novenber 26, 1991, at approxi- mately 10: 24
p.m Inspector Ferrin described the area in ques- tion as a passageway and
mechani c's storage/work areas. A slip, trip, or fall were identified as the
hazards.

M. Watson indicated that access was not restricted to this area. In
addition, it was possible that a mechanic mght enter the area. (Tr. 64, 75-
76) .

I nspector Ferrin thought that someone shoul d have recog- nized the
hazards and taken corrective action. (Tr. 32).

On the uncontroverted evidence, Citation No. 3634714 should be affirned.
Order Nos. 3634717, 3634718, and 3634720

The above 104(b) orders were issued on Novenber 27, 1991, approximately
23 hours after the above 104(a) citations. Because of the circunstances
surroundi ng the issuance of the orders, as well as the evidence of FMC, al
three orders can be di scussed together

It is uncontroverted that FMC failed to abate the original citations.

Section 104(b) of the Act contains the authority for a failure to abate
the order. It provides:

(b) If, upon any followup inspection of a coal or
ot her mne, an authorized representative of the Sec-
retary finds (1) that a violation described in a
citation issued pursuant to subsection (a) has not
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been totally abated within the period of tinme as
originally fixed therein or as subsequently extended,
and (2) that the period of time for the abatenent
shoul d not be further extended, he shall determine the
extent of the area affected by the violation and shal
pronptly issue an order requiring the operator of such
mne or his agent to i medi ately cause all persons,
except those persons referred to in subsection (c), to
be withdrawn from and to be prohibited fromentering
such area until an authorized representative of the
Secretary determ nes that such violation has been
abat ed.

I nspector Ferrin had originally set the tine for abating the
104(a) violations as 4 p.m on Novenber 27, 1991. \Wen he re-
turned to the cited areas, approxi mately 23 hours after the ini-
tial citations had been issued, he observed that no apparent ef-
fort had been nade to abate the violations (Tr. 19-20, 27, 32).
FMC s Representative Watson verified the failure to abate.

(Tr. 67-72).

M. Watson agreed the time allowed for abatenment by the
I nspect or was reasonable (Tr. 78). Inspector Ferrin originally
set the abatenent tine for each citation based on past experience
and upon conversations with Carl Watson and the miner's repre-
sentative, both of whom had acconpani ed himon the inspection.
(Tr. 18).

DEFENSES

FMC of fered several excuses regarding the failure to abate.
These excuses included: the absence of a supervisor or a foreman
on the inspection party (Tr. 52); [one foreman had called in sick
(Tr. 55)].

FMC i nspections had not occurred on the swing shift (Tr.
52); there was no graveyard shift in the cited areas (Tr. 53).

The viol ations were not of a severe nature (Tr. 70).

Wat son stated that he discussed all of the above factors
with I nspector Ferrin before the orders were issued (Tr. 70).

M. Ferrin testified that he had considered the nature of
the violations and degree of danger posed by them (Tr. 41).
Anong the nost inportant factors was whether the operator had

made a reasonable effort to abate the violations. |In fact,
M. Ferrin stated that if a sincere effort has been nade to abate
a citation, he will extend an abatenment period (Tr. 29, 32). In

this case, however, the Inspector could find no mtigating cir-
cunstances or evidence of any effort made to abate the citations
that would allow himto grant an extension (Tr. 23).
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M. Ferrin believed that a |ack of communi cation that allows
a hazardous condition to continue to exist is not an excuse suf-
ficient to allow an extension (Tr. 22). Opening and mai ntai ning
lines of communication is the responsibility of management and
the breakdown of a communication |ine can not serve as an excuse
for failing to abate a hazard. M. Ferrin also stated that the
absence of a foreman on the inspection would not be a legitimte
reason for an extension (Tr. 42, 44). Simlarly, one foreman
calling in sick hardly qualifies as an excuse; production does
not stop when one man is absent (Tr. 78).

Carl Watson, a nmenber of managenment, acconpanied M. Ferrin
on the inspection and was served with the three original Section
104(a) citations (Tr. 56). M. Watson then gave the citations
to the foreman that was working at the tine. The foreman is also
a nmenber of managenent (Tr. 72). M. Watson also infornmed Jack
Thorner, his boss, of the citations. M. Thorner also is a menber
of managenent (Tr. 72).

APPLI CABLE CASE LAW

The factors to be considered in determ ni ng whet her an

abat ement period should be extended are (1) the degree of danger
that any extension would have caused to mners; (2) the diligence
of the operator in attenpting to nmeet the tinme originally set for
abatenent; and (3) the descriptive effect an extension would have
had on operating shifts. Youghi ogheny and Chi o Coal Conpany, 8
FMSHRC 330 (March 1986, Maurer, Judge) citing Consolidation Coa
Conpany, Barb 76-143 (1976).

In considering the initial facet, | conclude that the degree
of danger caused by an extension of abatenment was |ow. The Sec-
retary does not claimotherwi se and the 104(a) citations were not
designated as S&S. All three citations indicated that an injury
was "unlikely."

In considering the second facet, it appears the operator was
not diligent. No effort was made to neet the time originally set
for abatement.

In considering the third facet, the record fails to estab-
lish that an extension would di srupt the operating shifts.

FMC argues that for at |east 15 years MSHA inspections had
been perfornmed on the day shift. The instant inspection was the
first MSHA "off-shift" inspection.

An inspection during an "off-shift" could disclose safety
deficiencies that m ght not be observed during the day shift.
MSHA has consi derabl e discretion in scheduling its inspections.
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| amunwilling to conclude that a shift change in inspections
constitutes an abuse of that discretion

As a further reason in support of its position, FMC asserts
its chain of command was broken because no superintendent or
foreman was able to participate in the inspection

| am not persuaded the chain of comand had broken down.
Carl Watson, a nmenber of managenent, acconpani ed the |nspector
and was served with the three original citations (Tr. 56).
M. Watson gave the citations to the foreman who also is a mem
ber of managenent (Tr. 72.) M. Watson informed his boss Jack
Thorner of the citations (Tr. 72). In sum the comunication
lines were well established.

FMC cl ai ns an extension should have been granted because of
extenuating circunstances citing Od Ben Coal Co., 1 MSHC 1452,
1456 (1 BMOA 1976) and United States Steel Corporation, 1 MSHC
1490, 1492 (I BMOA 1976). These cases are not controlling

In Od Ben the Interior Board held the Judge abused his dis-
cretion in vacating a notice of violation nmerely because it con-
tai ned an unreasonably short abatement period. This issue is not
present in the case at bar. FMC s wi tness Watson confirnmed that
the abatenent tine was the next day. Further, he stated "these
peopl e woul d have had tinme to abate the citations on the day
shift the next day" (Tr. 74).

United States Steel Corporation is not factually simlar to
the instant case. 1 MSHC at 1491

For the foregoing reasons, the 104(a) citations and 104(b)
failure to abate orders should be affirned.

CIVIL PENALTI ES

The Secretary states that the 104(b) orders should be af-

firmed with no penalty and further states that the (b) order
"enhances"” the penalty for the 104(a) citations (Tr. 8).
I reject the Secretary's views that the 104(b) orders "enhance"
the 104(a) citations. Section 110(i) contains the critical cri-
teria on assessing appropriate civil penalties and no "enhance-
ment" exists in the Mne Act.

Section 110(i) of the Act nandates consideration of six
criteria in assessing appropriate civil penalties.

Consi dering the evidence, it appears that FMC is a | arge
operator with 3,132,680 hours worked in 1991 (Stipulation).



~2325

The proposed penalties will not affect FMC s ability to
continue in business (Stipulation).

FMC s history of previous violations indicated it was as-
sessed 240 violations for the two-year period endi ng Decenber 9,
1991 (Ex. G1).

The operator was negligent in that the violative conditions
in the two housekeeping violations were open and obvious. In
addition, the lack of a cover over 110 VAC term nals was open and
obvi ous.

The evi dence establishes to gravity was mninmal. The
I nspector considered any injury to be "unlikely."

FMC failed to denonstrate any good faith since it did not
attenpt to achi eve pronpt abatenment of the violations.

Considering the statutory criteria, a penalty assessment of
$100 for each contested violation is appropriate.

For the foregoing reasons, | enter the foll ow ng:
ORDER
1. VEST 92-542-M

Citation No. 3904302 and the proposed penalty of $1,800.00
are AFFI RVED,

Citation No. 3904303 and the anended penalty of $50.00 are
AFF| RVED.

2. WEST 92-464- M

Citation No. 3634706 and the anended penalty of $780.00 are
AFFI RMVED

Order No. 3634707 is AFFI RVED

Citation No. 3634735 and the proposed penalty of $100 is
AFFI RMED

Citation No. 3634712 is AFFIRMED and a penalty of $100.00
i s ASSESSED.

Order No. 3634717 is AFFI RVED

Citation No. 3634713 is AFFIRMED and a penalty of $100 is
ASSESSED.
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Order No. 3634718 is AFFI RMED.

Citation No. 3634714 is AFFIRMED and a penalty of $100.00 is
ASSESSED.

Order No. 3634720 i s AFFI RVED.

3. WEST 92-174-RM WEST 92-175-RM and WEST 92-176-RM the
contest cases, are DI SM SSED.

John J. Morris
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di stri bution:

Matthew F. McNulty 111, Esq., VAN COTT, BAGLEY, CORNWALL &
McCARTHY, 50 South Main Street #1600, P.O. Box 45340, Salt Lake
City, UT 84145 (Certified Mil)

Kristi Floyd, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U. S. Department of
Labor, 1585 Federal Office Building, 1961 Stout Street, Denver,
Col orado 80294 (Certified Mil)
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U.S. Departnent of Labor
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1961 Stout Street

Denver, CO 80294

Matthew F. McNulty I11, Esg.
VAN COTT, BAGLEY, CORNVALL &
Mc CARTHY

50 South Main Street #1600
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Salt Lake City, UT 84145



